GENERAL DISCUSSION PROVIDED BY JOSE ON THE BATTLE OF SEGUNTO:
This was a question and answer session I had with Jose, which I hope others will find of interest.
Further to the narrative of the battle, the one in the website, as well as the one in my game and everyone so far published, is completely wrong. There are only two exceptions: there was an accurate narrative of the battle by one officer from Blake's staff, which was published two months after the battle in the Gazeta de la Regencia (official paper of the Cadiz Government), and was later published in the Gazeta de Valencia and in the pro-French Gazeta de Madrid. The other exception of a correct description of the battle is in Captain Vacani's History of the Italian Army in Spain; Vacani was an Italian Engineer officer who witnessed the battle from the siege lines. Most of the mistakes are about the movements and plans of the attacking army, i.e., the Spanish. All the published first-hand accounts of the battle are from the French side, and while they give a more or less good rendition of French moves, they fail to describe accurately the movements and intentions of the Spanish army. However, during my many years of research in Spanish, French and Italian archives, I have read thoroughly scores of reports by many witnesses of the battle: company officers, battalion chiefs, brigade commanders and division Generals, besides the reports and private and official correspondence about the battle by Suchet, Blake and Mahy. 80% of this material had never been consulted by researchers, specially so the thick collection of reports  by Spanish officers who fought in Saguntum, which was miscatalogued and wrongly placed in the General Military Archive, and was "re-discovered" by sheer chance by a colleague of mine six years ago.

It would be very long to explain what did really happen in that battle, but in a few words, Blake never attempted to attack the French right in the mountains with 2/3 of his army, while the remaining 1/3 faced the bulk of the enemy on the plain. He intended to attack the mountains with Obispo's division as a diversion in order to protect the left flank of O'Donnell and Miranda, who meanwhile would advance on Hostalet hill to attack  Suchet's army in the plain, with the support of Zayas & Lardizabal on their right, and Mahy on their rear. Unfortunately Obispo was late (he only arrived when the Spaniards were in full retreat), and O'Donnell had to detach one of his own brigades for the diversionary attack. This was one of the reasons why he was defeated at Hostalet hill by the combined forces of Harispe, Boussart and Palombini.

As to the initial deployment, basically the "traditional" one is correct. But part of Villacampa's infantry and San Juan's cavalry is detached, and Robert's and Chlopicki's troops should be deployed as per the "revised" organization of their commands. The module, however, is not ready because I have a lot of work in hand, and for the time being I cannot devote myself to this task.

The difference between my Order of Battle and the "traditional one", is that the latter is based on the official army strength reports dated several weeks before the battle, and do not take into account the many variations and organizational changes made exclusively for the battle. My BO has been made up using the info contained in all the battle reports (army, division, brigade and battalion level), as well as (for the Spanish side) in the very detailed orders issued by Blake on the eve of the battle, so far unknown to historians.

One of the best books in English about the military history of the Peninsular War is The Spanish Ulcer, by David Gates. Highly recommended.

  
Your commentary indicates that the left wing attack was aimed at el Hostalet, so would require a movement of the Spanish pieces to the right. It would make for a different game. The Spanish deployment will be narrower and in greater depth
No, the Spanish initial deployment is OK, from edge to edge of the map. O'Donnell had to carry out a flank march towards Hostalet and up the Royal Road to Saguntum, hence the importance of distracting Chlopicki with the diversionary attack of Obispo. Mahy's role was to support both Obispo and O'Donnell.

       Other than changing the 2nd and 3rd to the 3rd and 4th Div, which is easy to do, but I really would like to understand how such a basic confusion occurred.
Just before the campaign, Suchet transferred his 2nd Division to the Army of Catalonia, so he was left with just 3 French Divisions in his army. It was my fault to rename them as 1st, 2nd and 3rd instead of 1st,  3rd & 4th.


 
        It seems surprising to me that Suchet committed to battle with only 6 artillery pieces!
The only artillery road was intercepted by the castle of Saguntum. Those 6 light pieces were painstakingly carried through the mountains from the artillery park to the battlefield.

        What time did Obispo put in an appearance? Is it know? It seems the battle did not last too long, how long did it actually last?
Obispo should have opened the battle at dawn, but he was late and did not attack Robert till noon, when the main attack had been defeated. The battle started shortly after 5 a.m. with light skirmishing, the main fighting started at 8 a.m., and there was a ceasefire following the defeat of O'Donnell and Caro starting at 1 p.m. , which lasted two hours. About 3 p.m., after having rested and rallied his troops, and secured the captured guns and 1500 Spanish prisoners, Suchet renewed the battle sending Boussart and Chlopicki in pursuit of the retreating Mahy & O'Donnell, and Habert & Palombini against Blake's new defensive line, deployed between the heights of Puig and Cartuja de Ara Christi, a few hexes off the south edge of the original map (the "new" Saguntum should be completed with a 16-inch map extension to the south). Blake intended to hold this position with the Spanish Right, supposing that Mahy would be doing the same with the Left in the strong position of Germanells (also offmap) But when Blake was informed that Mahy had taken profit of the lull in the fighting to order the retreat to Betera, he fell back from El Puig about 5 p.m., fencing off Habert's attacks and retiring to Valencia at dusk. The worst disaster occurred during this second act of the battle, the "afternoon fighting" as it was called by one of Mahy's officers, as opposed to the "morning battle". A few squadrons of French and Italian cavalry, supported by Chlopicki's voltigeurs, surprised near Betera the long column of march of the retreating Spanish left, which had been overrun and cowardly deserted by its own cavalry, and the whole rear half of the column was taken prisoner, over 2500 men.

        With the French, was Robert on the far right as shown on that diagram with Chlopski in line on the high ground to his left?

Robert was to the rear, with his skirmishers forward in the far right. When O'Ronan was detected he joined his voltigeurs, and was later reinforced by several companies from Chlopicki's command.

        Who covered the mound Cabezbort. Was it as in the original game, or as suggested in the plan I sent from the web site?

The game setup is OK, Creagh of Mahy's corps was in Cabezbort. O'Ronan's section (of Villacampa's division) moved during the night somewhere to the north and left of Creagh, taking Obispo's place in order to attack Robert's right flank.

 

        If I have understood correctly:

 

Mahy was assigned El Hostalet as a first target while Lardizabel and Zayas deployed to his right. Mahy deployed some of his force to protect is left flank. Suchet used Harispe's Div. to recapture El Hostalet and then the Italian Div. to help drive back Lardizabel. On the Spanish left Chlopiski routed the Spanish flanking force and struck Miranda in the flank routing his troops. Mahy's reserve got caught up in the rout and effectively the entire left flank disappeared. On the right Caro's cavalry intervened and was meeting with some success when the French reserve cavalry drove them back. The Spanish infantry, now unsupported, were forced to retire. Lardizabel's units eventually broke under the pressure. However Zayas was able to withdraw in good order. The Spanish reserves on the right helped in covering the retreat.
As Lieutenant General, Mahy had overall command of the left half of the Army. But as he had joined Blake just a few hours before the start of the battle, the direction and responsability of the attack fell on General of Division O'Donnell. Once the attack was repulsed, Mahy assumed full command, and his was the order to retreat, after having rallied one half of O'Donnell's defeated troops. 

Lardizabal did almost nothing. No other Spanish division (other than Creagh's, which retreated unscathed) suffered less casualties than Lardizabal's, specially when bearing in mind that the bulk of his casualties were suffered by the Tiradores de Cuenca battalion, which was "seized" by Zayas to strengthen his defense of Puzol, where it was destroyed side by side with the Spanish Guards battalions. He moved so slowly that could not lend any support to O'Donnell's attack. Unfortunately, the latter had advanced too quickly and rashly, and his two divisions (first his own and then the outflanked Miranda's) were broken by the massed assault of Harispe, Boussart and the horse artillery, closely supported by Palombini. The fighting against O'Donnell's division (specially Villacampa's infantry, as Sanjuan's cavalry did a poor show) was hard, and all the praises devoted by the French to Lardizabal's troops should correspond to O'Donnell. The detached O'Ronan also fought well in the mountains, till being overrun by the combined Chlopicki and Robert forces, while Creagh did not move one inch in his support. This was all the fighting made by Chlopicki till the afternoon battle, when his advance guard fell upon Mahy's rear several miles away from the battlefield, capturing or dispersing twice as many enemies as in the morning battle. Until then, Mahy had retreated in perfect order, as it is proved by the fact that he did not lose one single cannon, ammo wagon or ambulance cart: the retreat only started once the army train was at a safe distance (another point is that Creagh did not lose one single man, thanks no doubt to his questionable caution).

Lardizabal was not broken (one fourth of his men did not fire a shot), he retreated in good order BEFORE the amazingly successful charge of the Spanish cavalry, which was ordered and gallantly led by  General Caro in succor of the defeated O'Donnell. Caro wrought havoc on the French pursuers, giving time to Mahy to rally a good portion of O'Donnell's corps. After the battle, Lardizabal was the target of so many offensive remarks, that he wrote to Blake asking him for a public recognition in the press that the behavior of his division had been excellent, and that the only reason why his men did not fight so brilliantly as Zayas', was "the special circumstances of the battle".  

 

        What was threatening the French right flank that caused Chlopiski to reinforce Robert? In fact what was the reason Robert was deployed from the reserve to the right flank of Chlopiski if the Spanish attack was focused on El Hostalet? Were the French aware of Obispo?

Yes, they knew Obispo was somewhere on their right rear; actually, the combat of Jerica (that in the illustration) was a French attempt to secure its right by destroying Obispo, or compelling him to move away. Some French reports misidentified O'Ronan with Obispo, hence the contradictory accounts of some historians, stating that Obispo did participate in the battle from the start.

 I do have one question for clarification and that is was O'Ronan actually present on the current map or was he off the map to the left? If he is present where and when should he be located as clearly Chlopicki was kept busy with him.
O’Ronan should be just on the left map edge. After some play testing, it should be decided whether some more inches of map should be added westwards, for a better simulation of the fighting there. Furthermore, I forgot to point out that, albeit the initial setup is more or less correct, it should be made on the projected new portion of the map, at least 10" from the south edge. Or else, no Spanish unit should be deployed on the original map, other than Creagh's force at Cabezbort and a screen of light companies. Then, the first grand unit to enter the map should be O'Donnell's division, and more or less at the same time O'Ronan's column to the north of Cabezbort.
 Was all the artilleria volante genuine horse artillery. I had the impression that the Spanish army was generally short of horses, using oxen etc.
Yes, there was a chronic shortage of horses, but the Spanish artillery in Saguntum was quite well served and equipped. All artillerymen in the Volante companies were mounted, though very likely the quality of the horses wouldn’t be very high. Gun carriages and all battery wagons, however, were pulled by mule teams, therefore these companies should not be considered as full horse artillery companies. Mahy’s six-gun Volante company, for instance, entered into battle in Saguntum with 80 saddle horses and 65 mules.
Unfortunately, a good deal of the fighting took place off the original map: O’Ronan vs. Robert, Robert’s pursuit, Obispo’s repulse of Robert, Harispe’s outflanking manoeuver at Germanells (Mahy disregarded Blake’s instructions and did not make a stand there, but his acting otherwise would be a good “what if” scenario), the attack of Palombini and Delort at la Cartuja, Habert’s long fighting to dislodge Blake from El Puig, and finally the shameful disaster near Betera. 
RULES QUESTIONS AND GENERAL CLARIFICATIONS

This section comes from a series of communications I had with Jose on the application of the rules for Segunto.

  An infantry battalion is adjacent to an attacker. There is a friendly artillery unit next to the defending unit, but one hex back, so the artillery is in effect 2 hexes away from the attacker. Can the defending infantry and the artillery combine their defensive fire, even though they are not stacked and the artillery is 2 hexes away ie not adjacent to the attacker?
        I can see nothing in the rules that prohibits this but my opponent feels that if you cannot combine artillery, you cannot combine infantry and artillery that is not stacked for defensive fire.
You are right,  artillery and infantry may be combined in Defensive Fire, even the Canister Modifier (+1 or +2) applies to the fire resolution. This is to enhance the strength of a defensive position supported by artillery.
Can a cavalry division HQ in combat mode issue more than one charge order in the orders phase?
No, HQs only issue one order per Orders Phase. Of course, more units belonging to the same HQ can charge, but only after successfully performing an Orders Check.
 
2) What happens to a unit under charge orders that reaction charges, but no melee ensues. Does it still retain the charge marker? If not, what marker if any does it receive?
Yes, it retains the marker unless forced to retreat (17.7.5.4), when the marker should be replaced by a Recall marker. 
We are having a difference of opinion on the reserve HQ. If a OC is on the map and you bring the HQ onto the map from the reserve. Must you put it on top of the OC or can you place it anywhere within range of the next higher HQ?
If the HQ is deployed by a Deployment Order, it must be placed anywhere within the Line of Communications of the issuing Corps or Army HQ. However, if the HQ is deployed under the provisions of 19.7.3.1, it must be placed in the same hex as its commander (if he is on the map).
      If an opposing unit is closer than 15 hexes to the retreat edge, am I correct in assuming that a unit that retreated of the board does not get the more than 15 hexes from the enemy modifier?
Yes, furthermore that’s clearly stated in rule 11.5.2, line 3.
Does a 1 company skirm. unit exert a zoc of 6 hexes? (all around it) I know it has all round facing, but isn't it too small a force to control all that area? 
Yes, it does. The game system gives much weight to light infantry fighting, and rules like this stress the importance of skirmishers, without being too complex.
How specifically are they deployed and where are they deployed? Can they be deployed into an enemy zoc? 
When one light coy is detached, it “appears” stacked with its own battalion, and starts moving from that hex. During the initial setup, they may be deployed anywhere within the deployment area, unless otherwise stated.
Can units in an enemy zoc move into a flank hex of the same enemy? If so, what is the reasoning behind this? I assumed, at this scale, zoc would be locking. Not to meantion trying to get troops to move forward and change direction/facing in front on an enemy. 
Yes, that’s possible, otherwise the freezing effect of ZOCs would be excessive. Anywhere it is a dangerous one-hex move, which can trigger  reaction fire or a reaction charge. I mean, you will usually pay a price for such a move.
Units that take a hit in fire combat and fail their morale check, retreat 3 HEXES -regardless of terrain costs- is this correct? 
Yes
Does a unit have to advance after a skirm. unit vacates the hex before a bayonet attack? 
Yes
If two units, one friendly and one enemy, exert control over one hex and another friendly unit retreats through that hex on its way toward its loc, does that retreating unit lose one company for going through that hex? 
Yes.
Does a unit have to advance after a skirm. unit vacates the hex before a bayonet attack?
Yes
I think this is a clearer way of asking the question:
If a bayonet attack is declared and the skirmish unit elects to evade. Must the attacking unit advance into the hex vacated by the skirmish unit? 
Yes, and it may attack any other eligible enemy unit.
 

        Counter question - the Tiradores de Cuenca have a x2 multiplier on their formed side and a x3 on their skirmish side. I think all other counters have the same multiplier. So is this an error?

No, it's OK, they fought better as skirmishers than as line soldiers.

        Interesting situation-

1) A charging cavalry unit enters a copse and on the other side of the copse hex is to the right an infantry unit and to the left unlimbered artillery with cavalry behind. The attacking cavalry are doing an unorthodox charge. 

 

a) Can cavalry charge a target that could not be seen at the start of the charge?

Yes, no problem


 

b) Can the defending cavalry counter charge the cavalry in the copse even though there is artillery in between and they would have to stack with the artillery. 

Yes


If so, how do you handle it. Practically I do not see why not as the artillery only represents a few guns and this only covers a fraction of the actually hex itself.

Just by violating Stacking Limits, as per rule 12.1.8: As the move would result in an illegal stacking, both the cavalry unit and the battery would check their morale. Note that this rule only applies to friendly units, as the only way to move through enemy units is detailed in 12.1.9. Also, the countercharging cavalry would be executing an unorthodox charge if the charging unit is currently in the copse.


     If a Spanish Battalion is on El Hostalet and Zayas units fight as a brigade, do they get the +10 morale for the heights as well as the ability to use the HQ morale?


That's right

If a cavalry unit reaction  charges and as a result the target retreats, does normal pursuit ensue. If so, do you include the initial hex moved into by the charging cavalry to contact in the movement. The rules seem to imply that the reacting cavalry actually remains in the hex moved into. If the latter, does the losing, moving unit take a casualty for losing a melee?
No, there's no pursuit, as a reaction charge is just a defensive action. The retreating unit will take one casualty if a melee did actually occur, otherwise there will be no losses, as there is no pursuit.
 

        One other rules question arose and that is can the stragglers from eliminated units still be rallied if the HQ is in reserve?

No, it is assumed that the unit has been badly mauled  to the point of being unable to rally within hours. 

If a counter charging cavalry unit contacts its target, does the charging unit, which to date has not thrown for its morale, now do so?
Yes, it must check morale in order to withstand the countercharge.
        If cavalry in line counter charge an unorthodox charge do they get the line v column bonus? I would tend to view the unorthodox charge as a the equivalent of a cavalry march column for game purposes.
That's a LB rule, based on the wrong assumption that cavalry attack columns were closely packed. Usually the rear squadrons followed at a safe distance, in order to avoid collisions and be able to wheel left or right to counter any threat to the flank. Actually both formations enjoyed different tactical advantages and disadvantages, hence ours thinking that none was intrinsically superior to the other. 
A unit that performs an unorthodox charge, what is it treated as for firing purposes? If charging into terrain and also if charging out of terrain and is now in clear terrain?!
The firing must be resolved taking into account the terrain the charging unit is actually occupying, as well as its current formation. 
 
2) After an unorthodox charge, what type of target is it treated as during recall?
Do not confound unorthodox charges with uncontrolled pursuits (optional rule C). The charging unit retains its formation, either line, column or skirmish. However, I think that after an unorthodox charge, units must always Recall, hence you should add the following to rule 17.1.3: "4/ After executing and Unorthodox Charge".
 
3) A unit that retreats before fire...if it has to retreat through hexes with opposing ZOC, is it still subject to reaction fire? Does it have to pay the 2mp cost if it is in line?
 The cavaly may evade through enemy infantry or artillery ZOCs, without suffering Reaction Fire (it's not a threatening move for the enemy) paying 2MPs per ZOC exited, and an additional 2MPs if in line.
A unit using an unorthodox charge from terrain requiring skirmish order does not seem to require to change formation when it charges. It was indicated in post #100 on Consim that if they were to change then a house rule might be to only halve their combat value. By corollary what formation are they consider in if they do not? Players choice?
It should be considered in skirmish formation. That house rule is quite acceptable, if after changing formation the cavalry does not violate any of the requirements of a “normal” charge.
 
Also when moving from skirmish to open terrain requiring a formation trigger opportunity fire for the formation change? I had assumed it did. 
That’s right, 14.4.5 clearly states “during any Phase of the Game-Turn”.
 
 
There is already a 17.1.3: "4". Should I add this as "5"?
Of course, it should be “Point 5”.
 
 By the way if you stack two Spanish artillery units together I assume they are no longer subject to the one company rule for bayonet attacks etc ie always attacked from the flank. If this is the case, the +10 you get for controlling the heights turns a 2 company Spanish artillery stack into a super unit with a good defensive melee value.
        Is this what you intended?
Yes. Out of the 12 Spanish guns captured during the battle, only one was taken by frontal assault, while 9 were seized after being outflanked and abandoned by their crew. Another one fell into a ditch, and the last one was left behind in the retreat with a broken wheel.
        By the way I am now in a position to send any bmp file of any part of the game you want. I wish I had more accurate uniform information. This includes the Dragones de Madrid and the Cazadores a caballo de Montana. I was surprised by the uniforms that you used in some cases as they seem out of date.
The only accurate information about uniforms for the whole Spanish Army only exists for the beginning and the end of the war (General Military Reviews of 1807 and 1815). During the war years, there was absolute chaos on the application of dress regulations. Not strange, as most of the time there was no money to pay, equip or even feed the soldiers. Of course, there are records of what a unit wore during month X of year Y, but such information is scarce and fragmentary. 
        The Madrid Dragoons seemed to have amalgamated in 1809. I only have a record of Caz. de Madrid after that point. Are you sure they were dragoons? The Caz. de Montana again I have no record of. The closest I get is the Caz. de Montana de Cordoba. Again can you please confirm this.
As to the Dragones de Madrid, they did not amalgamate with the Borbon regiment, but with the Dragones de la Reina, at Guadalajara, in November 1814. I don’t know of any drescription of the uniform they wore in October 1811 (if any). I know, however, of a letter written at Murcia one month earlier by a French spy, stating the the Third Army was dressed in rags, and that the last draft of recruits still wore the civilian clothes with which they had left their home. I think that the Cazadores de Montaña de Valencia were not an Army unit, but a Militia horse company raised by the Junta de Valencia. It seems that another Militia unit participated in the battle, the Artillery Volunteer Battalion of the University of Valencia, very likely split and attached to the various artillery companies of the Right Wing. This was the only Militia unit driven as prisoners to France after the fall of Valencia.
 
 
 
        The ricochet -3 seems to cause very little damage. All my artillery books indicate that the ricochet fire was not impacted by human targets much at all.
The rule simplifies the ricochet question. Actually, the ricochet effect applies mainly in the target hex, this is why a column is more vulneable than a line. The negative modifier to additional targets is very high, but on the other hand there is no range limit to it: ricochet fire has the same effect at 2 hexes  than at 10 hexes, in spite of the many terrain features the ball must find while flying over one thousand yards. The reason why of the rule was to dissuade players of  moving their forces in thick stacks behind a “protective screen” of units. That’s all.
